

TOWN OF DEERING

Board of Selectmen

762 Deering Center Road Deering, NH 03244

> Meeting Minutes October 3, 2019

Selectmen present: Allen Belouin, Rebecca Mitchell, Bill Whisman

The hearing was called to order at 1900

Meeting Minutes:

Meeting minutes- September 19th

Mr. Belouin made a motion to accept the public and non-public minutes of September 19th. Mr. Whisman seconded the motion. The vote was unanimous and so moved.

New Business:

Myra Bickford- Water Quality

Myra Bickford appeared before the board concerning the quality of her drinking water and would like the town to do something about it. She also appeared before the board on July 18, 2019. She is concerned that the Sodium level was too high for her health. She had provided us, on July 18, 2019, results from ChemServe May 2019 test of her water. The report from ChemServe states that the water is "Satisfactory per EPA regulations". She said that she also had the state test her water- the BOS has not seen these results. Ms. Bickford claims that the culvert was causing her water quality issues. Ms. Bickford left upset that the board was unable to do anything for her.

Peter Kaplan- Planning Board Appointment

Mr. Kaplan did not appear so no appointment was decided upon at this time.

2020 Revaluation Update Agreement:

Mr. Belouin motioned to authorize the Avitar Associates of New England, Inc. 2020 Revaluation Update Agreement. Mr. Whisman seconded the motion and unanimously approved.

Other Business:

Discussed how the solar panels are progressing and went over Eversource Interconnection Standards for Inverters.

Approved the Fire Chief to move forward on a new per diem EMT. Mr. Belouin made the motion, Mr. Whisman second. The vote was unanimous and so moved.

BOS Meeting Minutes

TO BE REVIEWED AND/OR SIGNED:

Employee Payroll September 25th

\$12,950.07

Employee Payroll October 2nd

\$13,398.76

- AP ACH XFER October 3rd

\$2,68.70

- AP Manifest October 3rd

\$362,605.59

Non-Public Session-RSA 91-A:3 II (a)

Discussion Personnel Issues

Mr. Belouin made the motion to enter non-public session under RSA 91-A:3 II (a) to review personnel issues. Mr. Whisman seconded the motion. Roll call vote: Allen Belouin, Aye; Rebecca Mitchell, Aye; Bill Whisman, Aye. The vote to enter non-public session was unanimous and so moved. The Board entered non-public session at 1945. The Board reentered public session at 2020.

Other Business:

Board approved leave of absence for the Town Administrator, Russell McAllister, until December of 2020 or earlier.

Board accepted resignation of Steve Avery from the Planning Board.

Mr. Whisman made the motion to adjourn. Mr. Belouin seconded the motion. The vote was unanimous and so moved. The meeting adjourned at 2026.

Respectfully Submitted,

Rebecca Mitchell Selectmen

Russell Mcallister

> 202-329-7595

Established State of the Control of			
From: Sent: To: Subject:	administrator@deering.nh.us Thursday, September 05, 2019 12:38 PM Peter Kaplan Re: Reappointment as alternate to Planning Board		
Peter, You are on the agenda for the Bo	ard's next meeting on September 19th.		
Cheers			
 Russell McAllister Town Administrator 762 Deering Center Road Deering, NH 03244 603-464-3248			
On 2019-09-05 10:26, Peter Kaple > Russ-	an wrote:		
> Several weeks ago I asked if you could ask the SelectMen to reappoint > me to the PB. I think it slipped between the cracks, because I have > not gotten any response from you. >			
	ne board requesting that reappointment obe there in case there are questions genda.		
> I'll call you to ensure everythin > 202-329-7595.	g is in order. I ca be reached at		
> > Thanks > Best Regards > Peter Kaplan			

PETER KAPLAN 513 Baldwin Road Decring, N.H. 03244

September 5, 2019

Board of Selectmen Town of Deering 762 Deering Center Road Deering NH 03244

As you know, my appointment as an Alternate Member of the Planning Board expired this past April. I request re-appointment as an Alternate at your meeting on September 5, 2019.

I have been either a member or alternate on the Planning Board for 15 years or more, from the Chairmanship of Keith Johnson, Bob Compton, Bob Carter, Dan Goddu, and until my term expired Sharon Simpson.

I know the issues the Board faces and has faced over the years, and I have worked with its members. I participated in the recodification of the Zoning Ordinance; I helped draft the Growth Ordinance, I co-authored the Deering Watershed Overlay Ordinance, and I drafted the Wind Ordinance that protects Deering from Antrim's fate.

As an attorney, I bring legal skills to many of the matters before the Board to assist in dealing with carrying out our statutory responsibilities.

While away from Deering during the winter months, I am fully accessible by conference call, Skype, and remote access, via the internet. I am open to an expanded role through virtual means.

Thank you for your consideration.

J have resided in Deerling Since 1980.

Town of Dearing anter Rd 762 Dearing WH 03244

いののこのローヤヤグの

Planning Board

Deering, New Hampshire Bylaws & Rules of Procedure

Pursuant to RSA 676:1, the Deering, New Hampshire Planning Board adopts the following Rules of Procedure.

Section 1 - Title; Amendment

- 1.1 These rules may be cited as the Deering Planning Board Rules of Procedure.
- 1.2 These rules may be amended and revised by a majority vote of the members of the Board.

Section 2 - Membership; Officers; Terms of Office

- 2.1 The Planning Board shall consist of seven (7) members who are residents of the community appointed by the Board of Selectmen with one member an ex officio member of the Board of Selectmen.
- 2.2 Selection, qualification, terms, removal of members, and filling of vacancies shall conform to RSA 673.
- 2.3 The Planning Board shall elect the following officers from its members, provided however, that the Selectmen's ex officio member shall not hold any office: Chairman and Vice Chairman.
- 2.4 The Board shall appoint a clerk.
- 2.5 Officers are elected for a one (1) year term at the first regular meeting following the annual town meeting.
- 2.6 Three (3) qualified alternates shall be appointed to three (3) year terms by the Board of Selectmen. Alternates should attend all meetings to familiarize themselves with the workings of the Board to stand ready to serve whenever a regular member of the Board is unable to fulfill his/her responsibilities.
- 2.7 Attendance: Members are expected to attend all meetings and workshop sessions. Members shall be permitted to miss three (3) meetings in a single calendar year. Upon missing three (3) meetings, the Chair shall notify the member in writing of the next upcoming meeting. Should the member miss a fourth meeting, the Planning Board may submit a request in writing to the Board of Selectmen to have said regular member removed from the Board in accordance with RSA 673:13.

Section 3 - Duties of Officers

- 3.1 The Chair shall preside over meetings and shall be responsible for conduct and decorum of the meeting. The Chair shall have the responsibility to ensure that all parties receive a full and fair hearing before the Board, to enforce the rules herein and applicable state laws, appoint such committees as directed by the Board and shall affix his/her signature in the name of the Board.
- 3.2 The Vice-Chair shall preside over meetings and assume the duties of Chair in the absence of the Chair.

REVALUATION/UPDATE AGREEMENT

SUBJECT: Cyclical (properties previously measured and listed under separate contract – See 5 Yr Assessors Agreement signed 12/2/15) Revaluation of all taxable, tax exempt and non-taxable property for tax assessment purposes, in accordance with the standards set forth in the laws of the State of New Hampshire and Administrative Rules adopted by the Department of Revenue Administration (DRA) and the Assessing Standards Board (ASB), in effect at the time of execution.

<u>Deering</u>, <u>NH</u>, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New Hampshire, hereinafter called the Municipality; and <u>Avitar Associates of NE</u>, <u>Inc</u>, a business organization existing under the laws of the State of New Hampshire and having a principal place of business at <u>150</u> <u>Suncook Valley Highway</u>, <u>Chichester</u>, <u>NH 03258</u> hereinafter called the Company, hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION

1.1 Name of Municipality:	Town of Deering	
1.2 Address of Municipality:	762 Deering Center Road	
	Deering, NH 03244	
1.3 Contact Email:	administrator@deering.nh.us	
1.4 Contracting Officer for the Municipality:	Board of Selectmen	
1.5 Telephone & Fax Numbers:	(603) 464-3248 Fax 464-3804	
1.6 Name of Company:	Avitar Associates of N.E., Inc.	
1.7 Address of Company:	150 Suncook Valley Highway	
	Chichester, NH 03258	
1.8 Telephone & Fax Numbers:	(603) 798-4419 Fax (603) 798-4263	
1.9 Name and Title of Company Signer:	Loren J. Martin, President of Assessing Operations	
	or Gary J. Roberge, CEO	
1.10 Contact Email:	loren@avitarassociates.com or gary@avitarassociates.com	

2. GENERAL SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE COMPANY

2.1 Appraise all property.

- **2.1.1** To appraise all taxable property within the municipality in a good and workmanlike manner according to New Hampshire Revised Statutes 75:1.
- **2.1.2** To appraise all tax exempt and non-taxable property (RSA 74:2) within the taxing jurisdiction of the Municipality in the same manner as taxable property.
- **2.1.3** The Company shall measure, list and verify all sales used as benchmarks for the update process, unless otherwise noted in the addendum section of this contract.

2.2 Completion of Work:

- 2.2.1 The company shall complete all work and deliver the same in final form to the Municipal Assessing Officials on or before $\underline{10/1/2020}$ with assessments as of $\underline{4/1/2020}$.
- 2.2.2 A penalty of \$35.00 per day shall be paid by the Company for each day required for completion beyond the above stated completion date for delays caused by the Company.
- 2.2.3 The re-assessment shall be considered complete and in its final form only when informal reviews have been complete, value changes made as required and the figures are submitted to and accepted by the Municipal Assessing Officials. The Company shall provide the municipality with a full set of property record cards, the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report which includes the data collection manual and the CAMA Manual, if applicable.

2.3 Personnel.

- 2.3.1 The Company shall employ experienced and competent assessors who have been certified by the N.H. Department of Revenue Administration in accordance with ASB 300 rules and RSA 21-J:14-f for the level of work they will be performing. A list of personnel is attached to this contract detailing their level of certification.
- 2.3.2 The Company shall not compensate, in any way, a Municipal officer or employee or any member of the family of such officer or employee in the performance of any work under this contract.
- 2.3.3 Upon execution of the contract and before the update/revaluation begins, the Company shall forward to the N.H. Department of Revenue Administration a list of the approved employees assigned to the update project.
- 2.3.4 The Company will ensure the DRA Certified Assessor Supervisor will be on the job site 50% of the time.
- 2.3.5 The Company will ensure that there will be no assigning of any part of the contract to anyone other than the Company without express written permission by the Town.

2.4 Public Relations.

The Company and the Municipality, during the progress of the work, shall use their best efforts and that of their employees to promote full cooperation and amiable relations with the taxpayers. All publicity and news releases will be cleared with the Municipal Assessing Officials. The Company, upon request of the Municipality, will make available speakers to acquaint property owners with the nature and purpose of the update at a public forum scheduled by the Municipality, but not more than 4 times during the course of the project.

2.5 Confidentiality.

2.5.1 The Company agrees to not disclose to anyone except the Municipal Assessing Official and the Commissioner of the N.H. Department of Revenue Administration or their respective designee, any preliminary values or new values discovered, for any purpose, or to permit anyone to use or peruse any of the data on file in connection with the update, until the values have been submitted to the Municipal Assessing Officials and are made public.

2.5.2 The Company agrees to furnish the New Hampshire Department of Revenue Administration staff member assigned to monitor the update reasonable requests for information made in writing.

2.6 Compensation and Terms.

The Municipality in consideration of the services hereunder to be performed by the Company agrees to pay to the Company the sum of \$\frac{\$46,500}{}\$ dollars, in manner and form as follows:

- **2.6.1** Payment shall be made in equal monthly installments of \$3,875 per month as the work progresses.
- **2.6.2** Monthly progress reports will be submitted by the Company detailing the work that has been completed to date.

3. DETAIL SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE COMPANY

3.1 Development of Unit Costs:

- 3.1.1 The Company may use Marshall & Swift Cost Manual as a basis to develop the costs of residential, commercial and industrial construction in the area and then modify those costs by local sales, material costs and prevailing wage rates in the building trades. These shall include architects and engineer's fees, and contractor's overhead and profits. Oftentimes, the existing CAMA model and established cost tables are the starting point. Before using any indicated costs, the Company shall make tests using costs against actual sales of buildings whose actual current costs are known, in order to ensure accuracy.
- 3.1.2 Residential Property Appraisal Schedules. The Company shall use unit cost as the basis of appraisal of residential properties. Schedules shall consist of unit base prices upon definite specifications for houses of various types and quality of construction and reflect the building customs and practices in the community. The schedules shall include adjustment for story height, square foot size and extra features, such as barns, garages, pools, fireplaces, etc. and are found in the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report Section "Final Valuation Cost Tables".
- 3.2 Collection of Property Data The following only applies to sale properties, as all other properties were visited as part of the cyclical measure and list under separate contract See 5 Year Assessors Agreement signed on 12/2/15
 - 3.2.1 All vacant land parcels and any attributes that may affect the market value shall be listed accurately. Such attributes may include, but not be limited to: number of acres; road frontage; neighborhoods; water frontage; water access; views; topography; easements; deeded restrictions and other factors that might affect the market value.
 - 3.2.2 Every principal building(s), shall be accurately measured and listed to account for the specific elements and details of construction as described in the data collection manual. Such elements and details may include, but not be limited to: quality of construction; age of structure; depreciation factors; basement area; roofing; exterior cover; flooring; fireplaces; heating & cooling systems; plumbing; story height; number of bathrooms; number of bedrooms; and, other

features, attributes, or factors that might affect market value. (All improvements on the property will be measured but not necessarily listed, ie. sheds, decks, barns, etc.)

- 3.2.3 The Company shall make an attempt to inspect the property and if the attempt is unsuccessful, the Company may:
 - (a) Leave a notification card at the property advising the taxpayer that they will receive a letter in the future to call and schedule an interior inspection and:
 - (b) Send a letter to the property owner requesting that the property owner call the Contractor's designee, within a stated time frame as agreed upon by the Municipal Assessing Officials and the Company, to arrange for an interior inspection;
- **3.2.4** If the Company is not able to arrange for an interior inspection or entrance to a building or parcel of land cannot be obtained as detailed in Section 3.2.5 below, the Company shall:
 - (a) Estimate the value of the improvements using the best evidence available; and
 - (b) Annotate the property record card accordingly.
- **3.2.5** The Company shall complete interior inspection of all properties except:
 - (a) Vacant or unoccupied structures;
 - (b) Where multiple attempts for inspection have been made without success and the owner or occupant has not responded to the Companies notifications;
 - (c) Where postings prevent access;
 - (d) Unsafe structures;
 - (e) When the owner has refused access to the Company;
 - (f) When inhabitants appear impaired, dangerous or threatening; and,
 - (g) Any other reason for which the Municipal Assessing Officials agree that the property is inaccessible.
- 3.2.6 Commercial and Industrial property, whether rented or not, may have its earnings or estimated earnings capitalized as another means of developing the properties market value.
- **3.2.7** The Company shall provide to Municipality a complete copy of the: field data collection card(s).

3.3 Market Analysis:

- 3.3.1 A DRA Certified Property Assessor Assistant under the guidance of a DRA Certified Property Assessor or Supervisor may validate sales data. A DRA Certified Property Assessor Supervisor shall prepare the full market analysis.
- 3.3.2 In order to ensure that appraisals will reflect full and true value, the Municipality shall provide to the Company a copy of all property transfers for a

- period not to exceed two (2) years immediately preceding the effective date of the update.
- 3.3.3 A market analysis shall be conducted using accepted appraisal methods in order to determine land, building and total property values. Such accepted methodology shall include the consideration of all sales given by the municipality to the Company and their inclusion in the sales section of the UPSAP compliant mass appraisal report with appropriate notations for those sales not used in the correlation of values.
- 3.3.4 All qualified property sales shall be included in the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report by photocopy or printout of the property assessment record card and a photograph of the principal buildings shall be attached thereto. A list of all unqualified sales will also be provided.
- 3.3.5 The sales price and terms of the sale shall be verified by the Company and a notation as to qualified or unqualified transaction with unqualified sales noted as to reason made on the property assessment record card along with the sale price, date of the sale, and date of inspection.
- 3.3.6 Land values shall be determined from land only sales whenever possible, however, in the absence of an adequate number of land sales, the appraiser may use the land residual technique to assist him in the determination of land values. The analysis shall show the sale price, adjustments made and final value as of the effective date of the update.
- 3.3.7 The indicated land values shall be shown as, but not limited to, front foot, square foot, front acre or rear acre units or other appropriate units of comparison.
- 3.3.8 The preliminary market analysis showing the sales used and the analysis to indicate property values, including front foot, square foot or front acre, rear acre unit values, or other appropriate units of comparison or a summary thereof will be provided to the Municipal Assessing Officials prior to the notification to taxpayers of preliminary values. All preliminary analysis, field cards, reports, etc. are work products and are the property of the Company and not provided to taxpayers. Final market analysis will be printed and provided to the Municipal Assessing Officials as part of the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report.

3.4 Value Notification & Informal Reviews.

- **3.4.1** The Company shall provide the Municipal Assessing Officials with a list of newly established values for review and a sample notice that specifies the dates to call for scheduling an informal hearing.
- 3.4.2 The Company shall mail, first class, to all property owners a notice of the newly estimated value of the property. Such notice shall also contain <u>instructions for online access for 30 days</u> for their ease in review and comparing assessments and an indication of where else this information is available, ie, the Library, Town Hall, etc. for review. The notice shall also contain the date, time and

location of the informal review process including instructions on obtaining an informal review.

- 3.4.3 The informal review process shall include a 4 day window for property owners to call and schedule an appointment which will occur at a later date. The informal review process may be monitored by the Municipal Assessing Officials or their designee. The Company shall ensure that an informal review of the newly estimated property values is provided to all property owners who request such review during the timeframe allowed for setting up appointments.
- 3.4.4 The Company shall notify all property owners addressed during the informal reviews of the disposition of their review stating whether or not a change in value has resulted and the amount thereof and will contain information regarding the abatement/appeal process.

3.5 Manual of Appraisal:

- **3.5.1** Final Appraisal Report. This report shall comply with the most recent edition of Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice (USPAP). The report shall contain the following sections:
 - 1. A Letter of Transmittal.
 - 2. A Certification Statement.
 - 3. A section including the contracted Scope of Work.
 - 4. A section detailing sales, income, and cost approaches to value including all valuation premises.
 - 5. A section including all tables pertinent to the valuation process along with all CAMA codes and adjustments used for the valuation of residential, commercial, industrial, manufactured housing and exempt properties.
 - 6. A section including statistical analysis and testing.
 - 7. A neighborhood/sales map.
 - 8. A section detailing all CAMA system codes/tables.
 - 9. A section detailing the data collection process.

The Company shall instruct the Municipal Assessing Officials or their designee in the use of the manual so that they will have an understanding of the appraisal process being utilized. Upon completion of the revaluation/update, the Company shall deliver one electronic copy and one hard copy of the report to the Municipal Assessing Officials and one copy to the DRA.

3.6 Property Record Cards:

- 3.6.1 The Company shall prepare property record cards 8-1/2 x 11 inches for each separate parcel of property in the municipality. Sales information is detailed on the front of the card to the right of owner information and includes grantor, date of sale, and consideration amount, qualification code and indicator of whether improved (I) or vacant (V).
- 3.6.2 The cards shall be arranged based on the Town's CAMA system design, as to show the owner's name, street number, or other designation of the property and the mailing address of the owner, together with the necessary information for determining land value, the number of acres of the parcel, the land

classification, any adjustments made to the land values and the value of the improvements to the land.

- 3.6.3 The card shall be so arranged as to show descriptive information of the buildings, pricing detail, depreciation allowed for physical, functional and economic factors and an outline sketch of all principal buildings in the parcel. The property record cards shall be provided in map, lot and sublot sequence and will detail the base valuation year and the print date of the property record card.
- 3.6.4 Any coding used by the Company on the property record card will be clearly explained elsewhere on the card or in the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report.
- 3.6.5 The initial's of the Company's employee who measured and/or listed the property shall be noted on each property record card, along with 3rd and 4th characters that describe the reason for the visit and what was done, ie, M=measured, L=measured & listed. A detailed explanation of these codes is outlined in the USPAP compliant mass appraisal report.

4. APPEAL - PROCEDURE NOTIFICATION.

If any property owner believes their assessment is unfair and wishes to appeal for abatement, they **SHALL FIRST APPEAL TO THE LOCAL ASSESSING OFFICIALS** in writing, by March 1, in accordance with RSA 76:16. Forms for this purpose may be obtained from the local Assessing Officials. The **MUNICIPALITY** has until July 1 following notice of tax to grant or deny the abatement. If the property owner is dissatisfied with the decision of the local assessing authority, or the taxpayer does not receive a decision, the taxpayer may exercise **ONE** of the following options:

OPTION NUMBER 1

The taxpayer may APPEAL TO THE BOARD OF TAX AND LAND APPEALS, 107 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03301, in writing, after receiving the MUNICIPALITY'S decision or after July 1 and no later than September 1 after the date of the notice of tax, with a payment of an application fee as set by the Board (RSA76:16a)

OPTION NUMBER 2

The taxpayer may APPEAL BY PETITION TO THE SUPERIOR COURT IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED on or before September 1 following the date of notice of tax. (RSA 76:17)

NOTE: An appeal to the State Board of Tax and Land Appeals shall be deemed a waiver of any right to petition the Superior Court (RSA 71-B:11)

5. HOW THE COMPANY VALUES PROPERTY

5.1 Replacement cost shall be computed using the tables described in section 3.1. These values shall then be depreciated according to age, condition, utility and desirability and the appropriate amount of physical, functional and economic depreciation shall be shown on each property record card, or shown as a composite adjustment based on condition, utility and desirability.

- 5.2 If the residential property contains 4 or more separate apartments or residential areas and if the rental charges are at market level, the earnings may be examined to establish a basis of rent capitalization to be used as a comparison to other property indications of value.
- 5.3 Before the final values are estimated, a DRA Certified Property Assessor Supervisor shall compare the preliminary values with the sales utilized in the sales survey to ensure all values reflect the market as of April 1 of the year of the revaluation.
- When computations of the data obtained from the inspection have been completed a final review shall be made by a DRA Certified Property Assessor Supervisor parcel by parcel, block by block, to identify and correct any mechanical errors, unusual features or anything influencing the final value and to ensure all properties are valued at their highest and best use.

6. CONDUCT VALUATION OF PUBLIC UTILITY PROPERTY

considering the three approaches to value like any other property in town, where applicable. We will first consider the cost approach (RCNLD), then the income approach, if applicable and if data exists. Then the market sales approach, based on small self contained utilities, will be used when arms length sales exist that are not governed by state or federal agencies or any combination we feel appropriate unless directed otherwise by the town in writing, unless otherwise governed by law.

7. ABATEMENT & TAX APPEALS

The Company agrees to furnish the services of a qualified representative to support the values established for the revaluation tax year upon local abatements without cost. A written recommendation will be provided. Appeals to the N.H. Board of Tax and Land Appeals or Superior Court, in all cases where the appeals have been entered within the time prescribed by law will be at the per diem rate of \$85/hour. "Any legal fees incurred are the sole responsibility of the town." In the case of an appeal upon Public Utility property that has been appraised by the Company, the rate is \$150/hour, the services of an expert may be required and the charge shall be \$2,500 per day plus expenses. The Company shall continue to be responsible for providing a qualified representative to support the established value even if the Municipal Assessing Officials have reduced the value as part of the proceedings defined in RSA 76:16. However, if the Municipal Assessing Officials increase any value established by the Company, they forfeit their right to Company representation.

8. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE MUNICIPALITY/CITY

8.1 The Municipality shall notify the Company, in writing, what property is exempt from taxation or for any reason dangerous or unsafe, so special arrangements can be made.

8.2 Office Space and Equipment.

The Municipality shall provide suitable office space with desks, tables, telephone access and chairs for the use of the agents and employees of the Company in performing their necessary work, if requested.

8.3 Records and Maps.

The Municipality shall furnish to the Company information pertaining to ownership of all property in the Municipality, the physical location of all property, including two sets of up-to-date tax maps, zoning maps, charts, plans and sales information which may be requested by the Company in performing its work under this contract. If updated tax maps are not provided (consistent with the April 1st assessing records), then an additional fee may be charged. Maps must show lot size and road frontages. If lot size and road frontage is not on the maps, it must be provided by the town with the maps. Building permits, along with plans for any subdivisions, lot line adjustments, mergers, etc. shall be provided.

8.4 Sales Information.

The Municipality shall keep the Company informed of all sales of property taking place during the progress of the update of which it has knowledge, shall make corrections on municipal maps as of April 1 of the update year where lots have been subdivided, merged or apportioned, and notify the company of all ownership, name and address changes.

9. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

- 9.1 The Company agrees to indemnify the Municipality against claims for bodily injury, death and property damage which arises through the company's actions in the course of the Company's performance of the agreement.
- 9.2 The Company shall not be responsible for consequential or compensatory damages arising from the late performance or non-performance of the agreement caused by circumstances which are beyond the Company's reasonable control.
- 9.3 The Company shall maintain Public Liability Insurance, Automobile Liability Insurance and Workmen's Compensation Insurance.
 - 9.3.1 The Public Liability Insurance shall be in the form of commercial general liability with the inclusion of contractual liability coverage and shall provide limits of \$1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury liability, and \$1,000,000 each occurrence for property damage liability.
 - **9.3.2** The Automobile Liability Insurance shall be in the form of comprehensive automobile liability and shall provide limits of \$1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury liability. A copy of the insurance certificate shall be forwarded to the Department of Revenue Administration before starting any work.

9.4 The Company shall maintain certificates of insurance on record with the Department of Revenue before staring the revaluation confirming the required insurance coverage and providing that the State shall receive ten (10) days written notice of the cancellation or material change in the required insurance coverage.

10. PERFORMANCE BOND

The Company, before starting any update/revaluation work shall deliver to the Municipality an executed bond or irrevocable letter of credit in the principal sum of the amount to be paid by the Municipality to the Company, if required, as security for the faithful and satisfactory performance of this contract and shall not expire before final values are submitted to and implemented by the assessing officials. A copy of the bond or irrevocable letter of credit shall be forwarded to the Department of Revenue Administration before starting any work. Any cost for bond or letter of credit, if requested, is in addition to the cost of the contract as specified in Section 2.6 and detailed in the "Agreement Execution" section found on page 11.

11. PROJECT SIZE

It is agreed between the parties that the entire project consists of an estimate of <u>1,462</u> tracts as defined by RSA 75:9, and that in the event that the number should exceed 100% of said estimate, the company shall be entitled to additional remuneration based on <u>\$40</u> per parcel/tract. In the event of missing public utility parcels, as coded on the MS-1 report, the additional cost is \$2,500 per utility property.

12. ADDENDUMS AND APPENDIXES

- If changes in the law (that occur after signing of the contract) affect the deliverables as noted in this contract, additional fees may be assessed to cover the cost to comply and produce newly required deliverables. This will be communicated in writing to the municipality as soon as it becomes known.
- No measuring & listing except sale properties.

Agreement Execution

Contract Total \$46,500	Total Number of Parcels 1,462		
In the presence of:	Municipality of: Deering, N.H.		
and l	By: for Mithen-hand		
Witness	auont		
	(PO)		
	Board of Selectmen		
	Date: 10/3/19		
In the massenes of	Commence Action Associate CNID I		
In the presence of:	Company: Avitar Associates of N.E., Inc.		
	By:		
Witness	By: Loren J. Martin, President of Assessing Operations or Gary J. Roberge, CEO		
	Date:		
	lease Check One & Sign Below: Yes 🗌 No 🗌		
Additional Cost of \$1,860	1 4 40 2 40		
New Total, If Bond Require	a <u>\$40,500</u>		
	By:		
Witness			
	Deering Board of Selectmen		
	Date:		

AVITAR PERSONNEL THAT MAY WORK ON THE PROJECT

<u>ID</u>	EMPLOYEE	AVITAR POSITION	NH DRA CERTIFICATION
GR	Gary J Roberge	CEO, Sr Assessor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
LM	Loren J Martin	President, Sr Assessor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
DW	David Woodward	Assessor/Supervisor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
MS	Mark Stetson	Assessor/Supervisor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
CR	Chad Roberge	Assessor/Supervisor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
ER	Evan Roberge	Assessor/Supervisor	Certified Property Assessor Supervisor
ЈВ	Jonathan Babon	Assessor	Certified Property Assessor
KC	Kerry Connor	Assessor	Certified Property Assessor
DM	Dan Martin	Assessor Assistant	Certified Property Assessor Assistant
JD	Jaron Downes	Assessor Assistant	Certified Property Assessor Assistant
KC	Keith Colburn	Building Data Collector	Certified Building Measurer & Lister
RW	Robert Weeks	Building Data Collector	Certified Building Measurer & Lister

Place Sign INN

John Shaw Fong Lahm ord Myra Bickford Sale Latince. & Sephen Forelson Eni Houff